NO. 45579-0-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

AARON G. CLOUD,

Appellant.

AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

John A. Hays, No. 16654 Attorney for Appellant

1402 Broadway Suite 103 Longview, WA 98632 (360) 423-3084

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Assignment of Error

- 1. Since substantial evidence does not support a finding that the defendant acted with the intent to inflict great bodily injury the trial court denied the defendant due process under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, when it accepted the jury's verdict of guilt on the charge of first degree assault.
- 2. The trial court denied the defendant his due process rights under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, to present exculpatory evidence that he ran from the police because of the existence of an outstanding warrant and not as evidence of culpability for the offense charged.
- 3. The trial court's refusal to allow the defense to argue that Mr. Egeler was the perpetrator of the crime violated the defendant's right to a fair trial under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment.

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

- 1. Does a trial court deny a defendant due process under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, if it accepts the jury's guilty verdict on a charge of first degree assault when substantial evidence does not support a finding that the defendant acted with the intent to inflict great bodily injury, which is an essential element of that offense?
- 2. Does a trial court deny a defendant the right to due process under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, to present exculpatory evidence if it refuses to allow that defendant to elicit evidence that he ran from the police because of the existence of an outstanding warrant and not as evidence of culpability for the offense charged?
- 3. Does a trial court's refusal to allow a defendant to argue that another person committed the crime for which the defendant is charged violate that defendant's right to a fair trial under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, when the evidence at trial supports the conclusion that another person committed the offense?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Factual History

At about 9:30 pm on July 24, 2013, Michelle Ray Ross was driving her silver 2006 Jetta with black wheels through the city of Bremerton after having returned from visiting her mother in Port Orchard. RP 78.1 The defendant Aaron G. Cloud was riding in the front passenger seat and a person by the name of Brandon Egeler was in the back. RP 80-81, 101-102, 297. Ms Ross and the defendant had picked Mr. Egeler up earlier in the evening. RP 81-82. At the time Ms Ross and the defendant had been living together for a few weeks and had been acquainted with each other for many years. RP 75. According to Ms Ross, when they stopped to pick up Mr. Egeler, the defendant had asked if he was carrying a weapon and had Mr. Egeler lift up his shirt to show he didn't have a gun in his belt. RP 81-82. Ms Ross did not see a weapon but she could not see behind Mr. Egeler's back. RP 103. As far as she knew the defendant was unarmed and there was no weapon in her vehicle. RP 88-89. In addition, on that night both the defendant and Mr. Egeler were wearing their hair cut very close to their heads. RP 152, 201.

The record on appeal includes 8 continuously numbered volumes of verbatim reports of the trial held in this case between 10/9/13 to 10/22/13. They are referred to herein as "RP [page #]." The record on appeal also includes the verbatim reports of hearings held on 8/12/13, 9/6/13, 10/4/13, and 11/4/13 as well as the opening statements given on 10/15/13. These volumes are referred to herein as "RP [date] [page #]."

Ms Ross later explained that at one point while in Bremerton she stopped for a light in the right of two left turn lanes. RP 80-81. While waiting for the light to change a truck pulled up next to them on the right. *Id*. When it did the driver and the defendant looked at each other and exchanged some unpleasant words with the defendant first saying "what's up." RP 83-85. However, Ms Ross could not hear what was said beyond that. *Id*. Within a short space of time the light changed and she turned left. *Id*. The truck that had been beside her then made an illegal left turn and began pursuing her as she accelerated away. *Id*. As the truck approached on her right side she hit her brakes and the truck went by quickly. RP 85-86. As it passed she heard a popping sound and initially thought she had blown a tire. *Id*. Although she saw the defendant raise his arm she did not see a gun in his hand. RP 87-89. In fact she did not see a gun at any point. RP 102-103.

After the truck went by it stopped and turned around as if to pursue Ms Ross. RP 89-90. In response she turned around and went back in her original direction in an attempt to get away from the truck. *Id.* While making a few turns she did catch sight of the truck. RP 90-91. After a few minutes she came to a police officer who was blocking the road. *Id.* She then stopped even though the defendant was saying "Go, go, go." *Id.* In fact the defendant had an active warrant for his arrest at the time. RP 524-531. After she stopped her vehicle the defendant jumped out and ran off. RP 91-93. She

last saw him running around a corner. *Id.* A few minutes later a number of officers arrived and took her and Mr. Egeler into custody. RP 97-105, 195. When taken into custody, Mr. Egeler lied about his identity and gave his brother's name, although his true identity "later came out." RP 198.

According to a number of Bremerton Police Officers they responded to that area based upon a 911 call placed by a person by the name of Kyle Fortuna, who had claimed that a passenger in a Silver Jetta with black rims had shot at him and put a bullet hole in the lower portion of his driver's side door. RP 139, 212-213, 247-254. They then met with Mr. Fortuna, took a statement, saw the bullet hole and a number of them then started looking for the Silver Jetta. *Id.* The following gives the transcription of Mr. Fortuna's entire 911 call:

911 Operator: 911, what are you reporting?

Caller: Yeah, somebody just shot at me.

911 Operator: Okay, what's the address where this occurred?

Caller: I'm on Naval right now, and the person's driving a silver ...

911 Operator: Jetta, black rims....Hold on, hold on, you need to give me a cross street on Naval. What's the cross street?

Caller: I'm currently on Naval and 10th.

911 Operator: And 10th? Okay, and how long ago did this happen?

Caller: Just now.

911 Operator: Do you need an ambulance?

Caller: I don't believe so, but they just shot at me and I don't know where they went.

911 Operator: Okay. So it was a vehicle that shot at you, is that

correct?

Caller: Yes.

911 Operator: Okay. Hold on just a second while I get this in, okay?

Caller: Yup.

911 Operator: Okay, give me a description of the vehicle that shot at

you.

Caller: Uhhh. A silver, a silver lowered ah...ah...

911 Operator: Was it a Jetta, you said?

Caller: What's that?

911 Operator: A Jetta?

Caller: Like a Jetta, or, either a Jetta or a Passat.

911 Operator: Did it have black rims?

Caller: Yes.

911 Operator: Okay. How many people were inside the vehicle?

Caller: Probably three. It's a female driving and a guy with a

shaved head in the passer seat.

911 Operator: Okay. Did you see the gun?

Caller: Yes, I saw the gun.

911 Operator: Can you tell me what type of gun it was?

Caller: Uh, a .22.

911 Operator: Okay. And I just want to confirm, you do not need an

ambulance?

Caller: No.

911 Operator: Okay. Are you going to be waiting at Naval and 10th for

law enforcement to contact you?

Caller: Ahh...I'll be....I'm on Naval right now, coming back

towards AM/PM.

911 Operator: Are you walking?

Caller: No, I'm driving.

911 Operator: Oh, okay, so you're actually driving in a vehicle?

Caller: Yes.

911 Operator: What kind of vehicle are you in?

Caller: I'm in a Mazda (unintelligible) kind of low rider truck.

911 Operator: Where are you going to be waiting for contact?

Caller: I'll be at AM/PM.

911 Operator: You'll be at AM/PM. Okay.

Caller: Yep.

911 Operator: Can you give me direction of travel for the vehicle that

shot at you?

Caller: Uh, it was circling around between Naval and 11th. It

was circling around doing ..going around the block,

um...

911 Operator: Hold on just a second for me, okay? You're doing a

good job of giving me this information. Hold on just a minute for me.

Caller: Yeah.

911 Operator: And you're at the AM/PM on 6th Street?

Caller: Yeah, yeah. Right now I am.

911 Operator: Okay. You're doing a good job. Hang on just a second

here for me. Can you give me any other description

about the female driver?

Caller: Uhh...I don't know the female driver...

911 Operator: Was she white? Black?

Caller: It was a white female.

911 Operator: White female. Can you tell me what she was wearing,

or what color hair she had?

Caller: I..I just got a glance. I don't know.

911 Operator: That's okay. And how about the male passenger. You

said he had a shaved head?

Caller: Shaved head...

911 Operator: And was he also white?

Caller: Yeah.

911 Operator: White male. Okay. Do you hear the officer there?

Caller: Well, they're speeding around, but....

911 Operator: They're trying to locate the vehicle.

Caller: Oh. Okay.

911 Operator: I'm just going to keep you on the phone here. What is

your name sir?

Caller: Kyle Fortuna.

911 Operator: Kyle, how do you spell your last name?

Caller: F-o-r-t-u-n-a.

911 Operator: Okay, what's your home address?

Caller: 2768 Maple Street.

911 Operator: Maple. Do you know the people who did this to you?

Caller: No.

911 Operator: No. Okay.

Caller: But I've seen them...they should be on camera down

there at the Burwell, ahh, car wash, down there on

Montgomery.

911 Operator: Okay.

Caller: They should be on camera down there.

911 Operator: We'll let the officer know, okay?

Caller: Because I've seen them many times there today.

911 Operator: Kyle, what's your phone number?

Caller: 360-551-9897.

911 Operator: 9897? Are you the only one inside your vehicle?

Caller: Correct.

911 Operator: Okay. Can you tell me who shot at you? Was it the

driver or was it the male passer.

Caller: Male passer.

911 Operator: Male passer? Okay. So what they said, they're gonna

be driving around trying to locate this person, okay? So are you going to be waiting there then for contact until

they contact you?

Caller: Yep.

911 Operator: And I just want to confirm here, you are going to be

waiting in a Mazda low-rider truck?

Caller: Yeah.

911 Operator: Okay Kyle, we've got this out to law enforcement.

They're checking the area, okay?

Caller: Uh, thank you.

911 Operator: Thank you sir, bye-bye.

CP 263-267.

According to the officer who stopped the Jetta, when the defendant got out of the passenger side of the vehicle the officer believed he heard a gunshot from that direction. RP 152-155. However he did not see a muzzle flash and so he did not shoot his firearm. *Id.* A number of officers later searched the area around the Jetta, searched the Jetta, and searched a storm drain by the Jetta and did not find any spent cartridges. RP 416-418, 422, 500. However, they did find a spent .308 cartridge on the street in the area in which Mr. Fortuna stated the event had occurred. RP 301-302. In addition, another officer found a loaded .308 pistol sitting by the curb in front

of a bank in an area in which the first officer had seen the defendant run. RP 167-168, 416. Later testing showed that the pistol was operational, although it kept jamming when it tried to feed a new cartridge out of the magazine into the chamber during firing. RP 326-328.

Eventually a few of the officers saw the defendant running through a field and through some blackberry bushes. RP 261-266, 283-285. They then took him into custody. *Id.* When they did the defendant made the following comment: "Gee, guys, it's just a DOC warrant period. All I have is a warrant." RP 558. According to other officers, once at the police station Ms Ross told them that she did not know the defendant had a firearm until he raised his arm up and shot out the window at the truck. RP 207-208. Ms Ross later denied ever making such a statement. RP 99-100. In addition, Mr. Fortuna later denied any memory of what happened that night or any memory of making any statements to the police. RP 51-61, 118-129.

Procedural History

By information filed August 9, 2013, the Kitsap County Prosecutor charged the defendant Aaron G. Cloud with one count of drive-by shooting under RCW 9A.36.045 and one count of illegal possession of a firearm in the first degree under RCW 9.41.010. CP 1-2. Two months later on October 9, 2013, the state amended this information to add a count of first degree assault with a firearm enhancement under RCW 9A.36.011(1)(a) and RCW

9.94A.570. CP 34-36. Although the state filed this amended information one week before trial, the defense did not raise any objections. RP 3-6.

On October 14, 2013, the court called this case for trial with the parties taking the entire day on pretrial motions and *voir dire*. RP 25-34. The state then called the first of its 16 different witnesses. RP 46-535. These witnesses included Ms Ross, Mr. Fortuna, and a number of officers who responded to the original 911 call or later investigated the case or tested evidence. *Id*. They testified to the facts contained in the preceding factual history. *See* Factual History, *supra*. Following the close of the state's case the defendant recalled one of the officers for a very brief time on the witnesses stand before resting its case. RP 557-559.

During Mr. Fortuna's testimony, the state proposed playing the entirety of his 911 call to the jury under ER 801(d)(1) arguing that it all constituted a statement of identification. RP 65-68. The defense responded by arguing that (1) the only portion of the 911 tape that was not inadmissible hearsay was Mr. Fortuna's description of the person who shot at him as a "white male with shaved head," and (2) that Mr. Fortuna's description of the vehicle did not qualify under rule the state cited. *Id.* After considering the arguments and listening to the entire 911 tape, the court allowed the state to play three redactions to the jury over the defendant's continued objection. RP 68-69. The following gives the transcript of those three redactions:

911 Operator: O.K., give me a description of the vehicle that shot at you.

Caller: Uhhh, a silver, a silver lowered, uhhhh....

911 Operator: Was it a silver Jetta you said?

Caller: Uhhh, what's that?

911 Operator: A Jetta?

Caller: Like a Jetta?

911 Operator: O.K.

Caller: Yeah, either a Jetta or Passat.

911 Operator: Did it have black rims?

Caller: Yes.

911 Operator: O.K.

. . .

911 Operator: Can you tell me who shot at you? Was it the driver, or

was it the male passenger?

Caller: Male passenger.

911 Operator: Male passer? O.K.

. . .

911 Operator: Okay, and how about the male passenger? You said he

had a shaved head?

Caller: Shaved head.....

911 Operator: And was he also white?

Caller: Yeah.

911 Operator: White male?

Caller: Yeah.

CP 259-260.

Finally, during cross-examination of Detective Crystal Gray, the state's last witness, the defense attempted to elicit the fact that at the time of the incident in question the defendant had an outstanding warrant for his arrest. RP 524-531. When the state objected the defense argued that this evidence was exculpatory because it provided an alternative explanation for the defendant's decision to flee from the officer who stopped the vehicle in which he was riding. Id. The court sustained the state's objection and prohibited the defense from presenting this evidence. Id. However, the court did allow the defense to elicit the fact that at the time of his arrest the defendant made a claim to the police that he believed there was a warrant outstanding for his arrest. RP 557-559.

After the close of its case the defendant moved for permission to argue the existence of another perpetrator for the offenses charged. RP 581-586. The defense took this step because the court had previously granted a pretrial motion precluding any such argument. RP 6-22. The court again denied the defendant's request and affirmed its decision to preclude the defense from arguing that Mr. Egeler was the shooter. RP 581-586. The court stated as follows on this issue:

THE COURT: I'm going to allow Mr. Houser to argue based on what's been presented at trial regarding identity, specifically the testimony of Mr. Fortuna regarding identity, and the other evidence related to identity of those persons in the car. I'm not going to, Mr. Houser, allow you to argue at this point that – or make a statement indicating that Brandon Egeler must have been the shooter because I don't believe the evidence at this point, applying that evidence to Mak, that you can argue that he's the other shooter or he wasn't – I think you catch my drift on that.

RP 581-586.

After this argument the court instructed the jury without objection from either party. RP 569-575, 579; CP91-123. As part of this process the court also instructed the jury on the elements of first degree assault as charged as well as the elements of the lesser included offense of second degree assault. *Id*.

Following instruction the parties presented their arguments, after which the jury retired for deliberation. 590-666, 671. The jury later returned "guilty" verdicts on each count as well as a special verdict that the state had proven that the defendant was armed with a firearm at the time of assault. RP 671-675; 124-126. The court later sentenced the defendant within the standard range, after which the defendant filed timely notice of appeal. CP 232-243, 245.

ARGUMENT

I. SINCE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE DOES NOT SUPPORT A FINDING THAT THE DEFENDANT ACTED WITH THE INTENT TO INFLICT GREAT BODILY INJURY THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT ACCEPTED THE JURY'S VERDICT OF GUILT ON THE FIRST DEGREE ASSAULT CHARGE.

As a part of the due process rights guaranteed under both the Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3 and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, the state must prove every element of a crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Baeza*, 100 Wn.2d 487, 488, 670 P.2d 646 (1983); *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 1073, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970). As the United States Supreme Court explained in *Winship*: "[The] use of the reasonable-doubt standard is indispensable to command the respect and confidence of the community in applications of the criminal law." *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. at 364.

Mere possibility, suspicion, speculation, conjecture, or even a scintilla of evidence, is not substantial evidence, and does not meet the minimum requirements of due process. *State v. Moore*, 7 Wn.App. 1, 499 P.2d 16 (1972). As a result, any conviction not supported by substantial evidence may be attacked for the first time on appeal as a due process violation. <u>Id</u>. In addition, evidence that is equally consistent with innocence as it is with guilt is not sufficient to support a conviction; it is not substantial evidence. *State v. Aten*, 130 Wn.2d 640, 927 P.2d 210 (1996).

"Substantial evidence" in the context of a criminal case means evidence sufficient to persuade "an unprejudiced thinking mind of the truth of the fact to which the evidence is directed." *State v. Taplin*, 9 Wn.App. 545, 513 P.2d 549 (1973) (quoting *State v. Collins*, 2 Wn.App. 757, 759, 470 P.2d 227, 228 (1970)). The test for determining the sufficiency of the evidence is whether "after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 334, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 2797, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979).

In the case at bar the defendant argues that substantial evidence does not support his conviction for first degree assault because the evidence presented at trial does not support a conclusion that the defendant acted with the intent to cause great bodily injury. Specifically, the defendant argues that the evidence that he discharged a firearm at a pursuing vehicle, standing alone, is insufficient to support a conclusion that he acted with the requisite *mens rea* required to sustain a conviction for first degree assault. The following addresses this argument.

In RCW 9A.36.011(1) the Washington legislature defined the crime of first degree assault as follows:

(1) A person is guilty of assault in the first degree if he or she, with intent to inflict great bodily harm:

- (a) Assaults another with a firearm or any deadly weapon or by any force or means likely to produce great bodily harm or death; or
- (b) Administers, exposes, or transmits to or causes to be taken by another, poison, the human immunodeficiency virus as defined in chapter 70.24 RCW, or any other destructive or noxious substance;

RCW 9A.36.011(1).

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