NO. 45579-0-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

AARON GUSTER CLOUD,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF
KITSAP COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON
Superior Court No. 13-1-00824-4

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RUSSELL D. HAUGE
Prosecuting Attorney

JEREMY A. MORRIS
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

614 Division Street
Port Orchard, WA 98366
(360) 337-7174

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. **CLOUD'S CLAIM OF INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE MUST FAIL BECAUSE, VIEWING THE EVIDENCE IN A LIGHT MOST FAVORABLE TO THE STATE, A RATIONAL TRIER OF FACT COULD HAVE FOUND THAT THE STATE PROVED THE ELEMENTS OF THE CHARGED OFFENSE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.**

Cloud argues that the evidence was insufficient to show that he acted with the intent to inflict great bodily harm, and thus the evidence was insufficient to support the jury's finding of guilt on the charge of assault in the first degree. App.'s Br. at 16. This claim is without merit because, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, a rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.

Under well established Washington law evidence is sufficient if, taken in the light most favorable to the State, it permits a rational jury to find each element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Pirtle*, 127 Wn.2d 628, 643, 904 P.2d 245 (1995), *cert. denied*, 518 U.S. 1026 (1996); *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 220-21, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn from that evidence. *State v. Moles*, 130 Wn.App. 461, 465, 123 P.3d 132 (2005), *citing State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). Circumstantial and direct evidence are equally reliable. *State v. Delmarter*, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980). Additionally, credibility determinations are for the trier of fact and are not subject to review. *State v. Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990). Accordingly, a reviewing court defers to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence. *State v. Walton*, 64 Wn. App. 410, 415-16, 824 P.2d 533 (1992). The relevant inquiry, therefore, is “whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.” *State v. Scoby*, 117 Wn.2d 55, 61, 810 P.2d 1358, 1362 (1991), *citing State v. Baeza*, 100 Wn.2d 487, 490, 670 P.2d 646 (1983).

In the present case, Cloud was charged with assault in the first degree, and under RCW 9A.36.011 a first degree assault occurs when a person, “with intent to inflict great bodily harm ... [a]ssaults another with a firearm or any deadly weapon or by any force or means likely to produce great bodily harm or death.” RCW 9A.36.011(1)(a). Intent is present when a person “acts with the objective or purpose to accomplish a result which constitutes a crime.” RCW 9A.08.010. “Evidence of intent ... is to be gathered from all of the circumstances of the case.” *State v. Ferreira*, 69 Wn.App. 465, 468, 850 P.2d 541 (1993) (quoting *State v. Woo Won Choi*, 55 Wn.App. 895, 906, 781 P.2d 505 (1989)). Evidence of a defendant's intent may be gathered from all of the circumstances. *State v. Wilson*, 125 Wn.2d 212, 217, 883 P.2d 320 (1994). “Specific intent cannot be presumed, but it can be inferred as a logical probability from all of the facts and circumstances.” *Id.*

In the present case, the issue before this Court is whether any rational trier of fact could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that Cloud intended to cause great bodily harm. *Green*, 94 Wn.2d at 221–22. Here, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that Cloud fired a gun at an occupied car, hitting the driver's door and that intent could be inferred as a logical probability from these facts.

Previous Washington courts, for example, have held that pointing a gun at a person and then firing is sufficient to establish intent to inflict great bodily injury. *See, e.g., State v. Odom*, 83 Wn.2d 541, 550, 520 P.2d 152 (1974) (jury was entitled to find intent to kill from the fact that the defendant shot at the victims). Similarly, in *State v. Hoffman*, 116 Wn.2d 51, 84–85, 804 P.2d 577 (1991), the court held that proof that a defendant fired his weapon at a victim was sufficient to justify a finding of intent to kill. As an intent to kill necessarily encompasses the intent to inflict great bodily harm, it follows that if a defendant fires his or her weapon at a victim it is reasonable to infer that the defendant intended to inflict great bodily harm. Thus, if a jury could infer intent to kill from the firing of a weapon at victims, they can surely find intent to inflict bodily injury.

Washington courts have also found that evidence that a defendant fired a gun at a victim was sufficient to show an intent to inflict great bodily harm. *See also, State v. Mann*, 157 Wn.App. 428, 439, 237 P.3d 966 (2010) (Evidence that defendant pointed gun at victim and fired was sufficient to show intent to inflict great bodily harm); *State v. Flett*, 98 Wn.App. 799, 805, 992 P.2d 1028 (2000) (In first degree assault case, evidence was sufficient when defendant fired gun into occupied car at close range, despite defendant's claim that he fired in self defense).

In the present case a rational juror certainly could have concluded, as a matter of logical probability, that by firing a gun from one speeding vehicle at another vehicle Cloud acted with the intent to inflict great bodily injury to the driver of the other vehicle. Most importantly, the shot was not fired over the car, but rather was fired directly at the driver's door on the other vehicle. In short, the evidence was clearly sufficient to each of the elements of assault in the first degree.

In the present case Cloud also cites *State v. Ferreira*, 69 Wn.App. 465, 850 P.2d 541 (1993), in which the defendant was riding in a car when someone in the car discharged a firearm at a house, injuring one of its occupants. The court in *Ferreira* held that the evidence was insufficient to find intent to injure, in part because the State did not prove that the shooters knew that anyone was inside the house or had fired at 'occupied areas' of the house. *Ferreira*, 69 Wn.App. at 469. *Ferreira*, however, is easily distinguishable from the present case because here, unlike *Ferreira*, the structure fired upon (a car) was clearly occupied.

Cloud also cites to two cases where the courts found the evidence was sufficient in part because there was evidence of prior animosity or threats between the defendant and the victim and this prior animosity was evidence of intent to inflict harm. See App.'s Br. at 20-22, citing *State v. Mitchell*, 65 Wn.2d 373, 397 P.2d 417 (1964); *State v. Woo Won Choi*, 55

Wn.App. 895, 906, 781 P.2d 505 (1989). While it is certainly true that evidence of prior animosity can be a relevant factor in determining intent, neither of these cases (nor any other Washington case that the State is aware of) hold that evidence of prior animosity is somehow *required* in order to prove intent. In short, motive is always relevant, but it is not an element of assault or murder. Nor is there any authority for the proposition that evidence of prior animosity is somehow required for assault in the first degree or murder.

Rather, as outlined above, well-established Washington law holds that evidence of a defendant's intent may be gathered from all of the circumstances and that specific intent can be can be inferred as a logical probability from all of the facts and circumstances. *Wilson*, 125 Wn.2d at 217. In addition, Washington courts have repeatedly held that pointing a gun at a person and then firing is sufficient to establish an intent to inflict great bodily injury. *See, Odom*, 83 Wn.2d at 550, *Hoffman*, 116 Wn.2d at 84–85, *Mann*, 157 Wn.App. at 439, and *Flett*, 98 Wn.App. at 805.

In conclusion, viewing the evidence in the present case in a light most favorable to the State, a rational jury could have easily concluded that Cloud acted with intent to inflict great bodily harm when he fired a handgun from one moving vehicle at another, occupied vehicle, striking the driver's side door of that other vehicle. Nothing more is required, and

Cloud's claim of insufficient evidence, therefore, must fail.

B. CLOUD'S CLAIM THAT THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN EXCLUDING EVIDENCE OF THE EXISTENCE OF A DOC WARRANT IS WITHOUT MERIT BECAUSE: (1) AT THE TIME CLOUD SOUGHT TO ADMIT THIS EVIDENCE HE FAILED TO SHOW THAT THE MERE EXISTENCE OF THE WARRANT WAS RELEVANT; AND (2) EVEN IF ERROR WERE TO BE ASSUMED, THE ERROR WAS HARMLESS.

Cloud next claims that the trial court erred in excluding evidence that there was an outstanding Department of Corrections warrant for his arrest. App.'s Br. at 27-30. This claim is without merit because Cloud has failed to show that the trial court abused its discretion and because even if the trial court did err, any error was harmless.

Questions of relevancy and the admissibility of testimonial evidence are within the discretion of the trial court, and are reviewed only for manifest abuse of discretion. *State v. Aguirre*, 168 Wn.2d 350, 361, 229 P.3d 669 (2010); *In re Welfare of Shope*, 23 Wn. App. 567, 569, 596 P.2d 1361 (1979); *State v. Powell*, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995). A court abuses its discretion when it exercises it on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. *State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker*, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971).

With respect to the issue of the existence of the DOC warrant in

the present case, the trial court's actions must be evaluated with an accurate understanding of the sequence of events below. When the issue of the warrant first arose, the trial court specifically asked defense counsel if there would be any additional evidence offered (other than the mere existence of the warrant) to connect the DOC warrant to Cloud's flight. RP 527. Defense counsel answered, "No." RP 527. Thus, as the issue was presented to the trial court, the question was whether the existence of the warrant was relevant and admissible in the absence of any evidence that Cloud was even *aware* of the existence of the warrant. The State acknowledges that the existence of the warrant may well have been relevant to explain Cloud's flight if Cloud had presented the trial court with some evidence that he was actually aware of the warrant. At the time this issue was discussed in the trial court, however, Cloud offered no such evidence. Thus the trial court was presented with no evidence that would have provided the critical link between the existence of the warrant and the claim that the warrant was somehow the reason for Cloud's flight. The trial court made this point perfectly clear in its oral ruling when it stated,

I am going – Mr. Houser, I am going to sustain the objection. It seems to me if the only information the jury has is that your client has a DOC warrant to argue that that was the basis of the reason he ran, without any other evidence, is speculative, and so I'm going to sustain the objection.

RP 527.

The trial court further explained its ruling by noting that there was an absence of any evidence that Cloud even *knew* of the warrant. RP 528. The trial court even went so far as to explain that if defense counsel believed he had any additional evidence then the ruling might be different, but (as the issue was actually presented to the trial court) the mere existence of the warrant was insufficient to connect it to Cloud's flight. RP 530. At no point during this discussion did defense counsel even give any indication that there was any potential evidence that would have shown that Cloud was aware of the existence of the DOC warrant.

It is true that later in the trial, during the defense case, defense counsel called an officer to testify that when Cloud was ultimately arrested he had made a statement to the effect of, "Gee, guys, it's just a DOC warrant. All I have is a warrant." RP 546, 558. This evidence would have arguably have provided the critical link between the existence of the warrant and Cloud's flight, but defense counsel did not present this evidence to the court when the issue of the DOC first arose. Thus at the time the trial court was actually asked to rule on the admissibility of the DOC warrant the court was deprived of this critical evidence. Given those circumstances, Cloud cannot show that the trial court abused its discretion. Rather, at the time of the trial court's ruling the defense simply offered no evidence that Cloud was even aware of the existence of the warrant.

Furthermore, once the potential link was established Cloud never asked the trial court to revisit its previous ruling nor did Cloud seek to introduce evidence of the actual warrant. In short, the trial court cannot be said to have abused its discretion after the link was established because the trial court was never asked to exercise its discretion after the link was established.³

Furthermore, even if one were to assume that the trial court's ruling was an abuse of discretion, any error was harmless. An erroneous ruling excluding evidence requires reversal only if there is a reasonable possibility that the testimony would have changed the outcome of trial. *Aguirre*, 168 Wn.2d at 361-62; *State v. Fankhouser*, 133 Wn. App. 689, 695, 138 P.3d 140 (2006).

In the present case the jury heard that when the Defendant was arrested he told the officers, "Gee, guys, it's just a DOC warrant. All I have is a warrant." RP 546, 558. The jury was therefore aware that Cloud made a claim at the time of the arrest that his flight had nothing to do with the shooting. The jury, however, was also able to weigh this claim against the strong evidence that supported the contrary conclusion that Cloud's flight was directly related to the shooting, especially in light of the fact

³ In addition, as Cloud never sought to admit evidence of the existence of the DOC warrant after establishing the "missing link," Cloud failed to properly preserve the issue for appeal, as the trial court was never afforded an opportunity to exercise its discretion in

that there was no claim at trial that the shooting did not occur (just that the Cloud did not fire the actual shot). In addition, the jury found Cloud guilty of the charge of possession of firearm and thus necessarily concluded that the defendant was a convicted felon in possession of a firearm, which in and of itself would have given him a reason to flee in addition to the DOC warrant.

In short, given the actual evidence at trial and the fact that the jury heard Cloud's claim that he ran due to a DOC warrant, there simply is no reasonable possibility that the outcome of the trial would have differed had the jury heard additional testimony regarding the existence of the DOC warrant. Cloud's claim, therefore, must fail.

C. CLOUD'S CLAIM THAT THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY PRECLUDED HIM FROM MAKING AN "OTHER SUSPECT" ARGUMENT DURING CLOSING IS WITHOUT MERIT BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT ACTUALLY ALLOWED CLOUD TO MAKE THE ONLY ARGUMENT HE ACTUALLY PROPOSED TO MAKE IN THIS REGARD.

Cloud next claims that the trial court denied the defendant his "constitutional right to present relevant, exculpatory evidence in his defense" when it made its ruling regarding the use of an "other suspect" argument during closing arguments. App.'s Br. at 33. This claim is

full view of the "missing link" evidence.

without merit because the trial court did not actually exclude the defense from presenting any evidence, and the record does not show that Cloud actually sought to argue anything further than what the trial court actually allowed the defense to argue in closing.

In the present case the record does not show that defense counsel was actually precluded from making any proposed argument that he actually sought to make. The record for instance, shows that defense counsel asked for clarification because he wanted to argue as part of reasonable doubt argument that there was some doubt that the police got the right suspect. RP 583. The trial court specifically ruled that counsel could make this argument regarding identity. RP 584-86. In addition, the trial court specifically asked defense counsel if he intended to go further and argue that Mr. Egeler (the other suspect) must have been the shooter, and defense counsel specifically answered "No." RP 584.

It is true that that the trial court did ultimately rule that it would be improper for defense counsel to argue that "Brandon Egeler must have been the shooter," but this ruling, even if technically incorrect, was clearly harmless and caused absolutely no prejudice to the defense because defense counsel had informed the court that he had no intention of making such an argument.